

THE ACADEMIC SENATE FOR CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY COLLEGES

POSITION PAPER

Equivalence to the Minimum Qualifications

ADOPTED FALL 2020



2019-2020 ASCCC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

John Stanskas, President

Dolores Davison, Vice President

Cheryl Aschenbach, Secretary

Virginia May, Treasurer

Geoffrey Dyer, Area A Representative

Mayra Cruz, Area B Representative

Michelle Bean, Area C Representative

LaTonya Parker, Area D Representative

Carrie Roberson, North Representative

Stephanie Curry, North Representative

Anna Bruzzese, South Representative

Sam Foster, South Representative

Silvester Henderson, At-Large Representative

Nathaniel Donahue, At-Large Representative

Krystinne Mica, Executive Director

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Introduction
The 2015 Equivalency Practices Survey
The Meaning of Equivalency
Benefits and Challenges of Equivalency
Legal Requirements
Principles
Equivalence as Part of the Hiring Process
Criteria for Determining Equivalent Qualifications
Equivalency to the Associate's Degree
Determining Eminence
Equivalency Committees: Composition and Information Collection
Faculty Responsibilities, Equivalency Committees, and the Role of the Human Resources Office
Determination of Equivalency for Part-time Hires
The Single-course Equivalency Issue
Determining Equivalency in Multi-college Districts
Conclusion
Recommendations
Appendix A: Sample Board Policy and Procedure
Minimum Qualifications, and Equivalency
Minimum Qualifications and Equivalency
Appendix B: Relevant Education Code References
Appendix C: Legal Advisory Regarding Single Course Equivalency

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In 1988, the Community College Reform Act (Assembly Bill 1725, Vasconcellos) began to phase out credentials for faculty in favor of a process for establishing minimum qualifications to teach in a discipline. Part of that process included a way to determine equivalencies that are at least equal to the state-adopted minimum qualifications for a particular discipline. According to Education Code §§ 87359 and 87360, individuals who do not possess the minimum qualifications for service may be hired as faculty members if they possess "qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications." The *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*, commonly referred to as the Disciplines List, is a list of Board of Governors' adopted minimum qualifications for hiring faculty that uses the term "equivalency" to describe processes to support this regulation.

Faculty diversification is a longstanding goal of the Academic Senate for California Community Colleges. The California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office reported in its 2018 Equal Employment Opportunity Report that while under-represented minority students make up over half of the California Community Colleges' students, full-time faculty of color make up less than thirty percent of the system's tenure-track full-time faculty, and part-time faculty of color make up an even smaller percentage of the system's adjunct faculty. Equivalency is a means of broadening applicant pools, which in turn, can promote diversity by providing the opportunity for additional qualified applicants to be considered for faculty positions.

Equivalency is an important aspect of equity-minded practices relating to faculty diversification, and as such, it is an important component of the hiring process. Institutionally focused, systemically aware, and equity-advancing practices should permeate the hiring process, and a district's locally determined equivalency process is an important component of the district's overall commitment to equity, diversity, and inclusion.

Every district must have an equivalency process, and the determination of equivalency is within the purview of the academic senate. Education Code §87359 (b) requires that "[t]he process, as well as criteria, and standards by which the governing board reaches its determination regarding faculty members shall be developed and agreed upon jointly by representatives of the governing board and the academic senate, and approved by the governing board." While neither Education Code nor Title 5 Regulations provide additional guidelines for what constitutes "at least equivalent," each district's governing board, acting on the advice of its academic senate, must establish its own standard for equivalency, permitted that the standard is not less than qualifications specified in the Disciplines List. Once equivalency regarding an individual applicant is determined, Education Code §87359(a) requires that the governing board take action on the equivalency before hiring occurs. Because the equivalency process was created by AB1725 in 1988 and chaptered into California Education Code, districts are required to follow these provisions.

Many criteria for determining equivalency seem obvious and can be handled in a simple manner. Others are more difficult. Most district equivalency policies recognize at least one of three ways of demonstrating equivalency: course work, work experience, and eminence in the field. In addition, a sub-set of experience or a combination of the three may be recognized. Whatever the means are for making determinations, equivalency should never mean less than the qualifications specified on the Disciplines List.

Establishing equivalency through coursework is often relatively simple, as transcripts are concrete documents that can be compared to concrete criteria. A somewhat more difficult case occurs when the name of a degree is close to that specified on the Disciplines List, but the coursework is slightly different. Other difficult cases may occur when work experience is proposed as the equivalent of academic work. Knowledge acquired in a course could also be gained in other ways; however, the challenge lies in obtaining convincing evidence to establish that an applicant has enough educational preparation through an alternative means to be judged equally knowledgeable as someone with the appropriate degree.

General education preparation should be distinguished from discipline-specific preparation. The ASCCC supports the principle that all community college faculty exemplify the qualities of a college-educated person. For this reason, the universal requirement for all disciplines not requiring a bachelor's degree includes at least an associate degree in addition to six years of experience. When a local academic senate evaluates an applicant's equivalency, the evaluating committee should consider whether the applicant satisfies the general education qualification for which he or she seeks equivalency. In addition, the applicant should be expected to provide evidence of preparation that is as reliable and objective as a transcript. The *Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit* (2019) provides tools for documenting equivalence, including tangible examples by general education area. Thus, a candidate seeking equivalence should be measured by the same standard as a candidate who possesses the minimum qualifications. Moreover, processes for determining eminence should be defined in hiring practice criteria and should indicate that, regardless of the discipline, general education preparation is vital to instruction of any subject in order to provide an essential cross-curricular breadth and depth.

Many local academic senates use an equivalency committee to ensure that the equivalency process is consistent and fair. This committee is either a subcommittee of the academic senate or a separate committee whose membership is determined by the academic senate. When the judgment is made regarding whether a specific candidate's experience is equivalent to the minimum qualifications, faculty in the relevant discipline should play a critical role in informing the decision. However, to ensure that the process of determining equivalency is applied consistently across the campus, it must include faculty from outside the discipline and appointed by the academic senate. The benefits to having a breadth of discipline representatives on an equivalency committee are the following:

- The breadth or general education requirements equivalent to an earned degree may be more readily addressed when faculty from other disciplines are involved.
- Committee decisions are more easily communicated and the logic and credibility of a specific decision is more easily understood by administrators, external partners or agencies, and future senate leaders when more faculty voices are involved.
- Decision making is more consistent when committee representatives are constant rather than dependent on the discipline, and their decisions are made without bias.

The role of a college's or district's Human Resources Office should be limited to collecting, date-stamping, and forwarding applications and other pertinent information to the academic senate or equivalency committee. A college or district that attempts to use its human resources staff to establish equivalency not only risks creating a situation in which candidates are not evaluated appropriately, but is out of

compliance with the Education Code and Title 5 Regulations (see Education Code §87359 (b) and Title 5 §53430 (b)).

Colleges must remember that minimum qualifications in a discipline—and, by extension, equivalency—are the same whether the position is full-time or part-time. Title 5 Regulations do not allow for a different standard of equivalency for part-time faculty. An applicant is either qualified to teach the full range of courses in a discipline or not, regardless of whether applying for a full-time position or a part-time position. Education Code §87359 (a) states, "No one may be hired to serve as a community college faculty... unless the governing board determines that he or she possesses qualifications that are *at least equivalent* to the minimum qualifications specified" (italics added).¹ In addition, minimum qualifications are determined for disciplines, not for courses or subject areas within disciplines. Legal Opinion L 03-28 (R. Black, 2004) supports the position that "a district is not authorized to establish a single course equivalency as a substitute for meeting minimum qualifications in a discipline."

Colleges must understand that when a faculty member is hired, he or she is hired by the district's governing board. The faculty, through the academic senate, is granted the purview to determine whether a potential faculty member meets the minimum qualifications, but the governing board and administration have the purview to determine whether the applicant shall be hired. The fact that an applicant meets the minimum qualifications does not guarantee an offer of employment by the district.

INTRODUCTION

This paper is the fourth revision of the ASCCC paper on equivalency adopted by the delegates to the plenary session in Fall 1989. Previous revisions were adopted in 1999, 2006, and 2016. The original paper was intended to help local academic senates develop policies and procedures in response to Education Code §87359, which requires that each district's governing board and academic senate jointly develop an equivalency policy. The 2016 version was called for by resolution in Fall 2014 and added new considerations and content called for by faculty subsequent to the 2006 version. The Fall 2014 Resolution 10.01 states,

Resolved, That the Academic Senate for California Community Colleges survey the field to identify local practices for establishing equivalence to minimum qualifications, including the use of eminence; and

Resolved, That the Academic Senate for California Community Colleges revise the paper Equivalence to the Minimum Qualifications and bring it to the body for adoption at the Spring 2016 Plenary Session.

Similar to the 2006 revision, the 2016 version provided a more thorough discussion of equivalency than the original paper and the 1999 revision. It also included the legal opinion from the general counsel of the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office distributed on December 23, 2003, which upheld

¹ See also Title 5 §53430.

² See Appendix C

the prohibition on single-course equivalencies. In addition, it included results of the Academic Senate's 2015 survey on equivalency practices in California community colleges.

In 2019, the CTE Minimum Qualifications Workgroup released the Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit, which furnishes specific tools for determining and documenting equivalency, particularly to specific general education areas. The toolkit reports that a survey, primarily of California community colleges CTE faculty, revealed that "the equivalency process is underused and varies greatly in application across districts and local campuses." At a 2020 Faculty Diversification Strategies Partners meeting hosted by the ASCCC and including representation from the Association of Chief Human Resources Officers, the California Community Colleges Chief Instructional Officers, the Chief Student Services Officers Association, and the Chief Executive Officers of the California Community Colleges, several participants reported that at their districts requests for equivalency were always denied. This current update to the paper clarifies and reiterates not only that granting equivalency is legally permissible, but that all districts are required to have an equivalency process. This version of the paper has been updated to reflect the Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit and to promote the use of equivalency procedures as a means of broadening faculty applicant pools in order to support system-wide faculty diversification efforts. The new version casts the equivalency process as a critical component of hiring processes as they relate to equity, inclusion, and diversity by applying institutionally-focused, systemically aware, equity-advancing practices.

The concepts discussed in the first four equivalency papers remain substantively unchanged in this paper; however, this update includes practical suggestions and considerations inserted to help local academic senates in refining their policies and procedures regarding this important academic and professional matter.

THE 2015 EQUIVALENCY PRACTICES SURVEY

To determine how academic senates meet their responsibilities for establishing and implementing equivalency policies and procedures, the ASCCC surveyed local senates in fall 2015. While the survey results indicated that most colleges and districts have equivalency policies and most academic senates recognize the need for equivalency committees, 15% of respondents reported that the administration determines equivalency on their campuses despite the fact that equivalency is the purview of the faculty and the academic senate.

Further findings indicated the need for regular evaluation, review, and revision of equivalency policies. Only a few colleges reported that their local academic senates conducted a recent review and revision of their equivalency policies. Of the 59 colleges from multi-college districts who responded to the survey, 34 reported that they coordinate equivalency decisions with the other colleges in their districts, while 25 reported that they do not.

Only a small number of academic senates indicated that the senate equivalency committee or committee chair provides training for faculty on flex days or at department or committee meetings. One college reported being in the process of developing a handbook with instructions to be provided for faculty

members involved in determining equivalency, which would be an effective way to ensure training is uniform and that all faculty members involved in determining equivalency at any time of the year had correct information.

The survey results highlighted the need for local dialogue by academic senates regarding equivalency policies, procedures, and practices.

THE MEANING OF EQUIVALENCY

The term "equivalency" is found in the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in the California Community Colleges*, also known as the Disciplines List, which is a list of minimum qualifications for hiring faculty adopted by the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges.³ Equivalency refers to any qualifications that are at least equal to the state adopted minimum qualifications for a particular discipline and the process used for determining that faculty preparation is equivalent to the minimum qualifications. Local academic senates should review the minimum qualifications of faculty applicants carefully to determine whether equivalency is necessary and appropriate or not.

A common question involves faculty applicants who may have a different baccalaureate degree title from the listed master's degree. For example, the Disciplines List identifies the minimum qualifications for chemistry as a "Master's in chemistry or bachelor's in chemistry or biochemistry and master's in biochemistry, chemical engineering, chemical physics, physics, molecular biology, or geochemistry or the equivalent." Therefore, an applicant for the discipline of chemistry who possesses a baccalaureate degree in biological sciences and a master's degree in chemistry meets the minimum qualifications and does not need an equivalency process because a master's in chemistry meets the qualifications. However, an applicant with a baccalaureate degree in chemistry and a master's degree in biological sciences would require completion of the district equivalency process despite holding a bachelor's degree in chemistry because a master's in biological science is not listed as meeting the minimum qualifications.

District equivalency policies usually recognize up to three ways of demonstrating equivalency: coursework, work experience, and eminence in the field. A combination of the three may be the foundation for equivalency determination. Regardless of the basis for equivalency determination, the applicant's evidence and the academic senate's process must document that the minimum qualifications have been met or exceeded in order to grant equivalency.

BENEFITS AND CHALLENGES OF EQUIVALENCY

One benefit to having an equivalency process is that it allows for greater flexibility in hiring by creating a more diverse pool of potential faculty with a variety of qualifications equivalent to minimum qualifications. Applicants who can provide conclusive evidence that they have education and experience

³ The current version of *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges* can be found on the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office website at cccco.edu and may also be accessed through the ASCCC website at asccc.org.

at least equal to what is required by the minimum qualifications deserve careful consideration, even if their degrees have titles different from those recognized in the Disciplines List or if they acquired their qualifications by an unconventional route. If the granting of equivalency were not an option, some fully qualified candidates would not receive consideration.

Equivalency is necessary to consider qualified candidates when titles of degrees are different from the degrees listed in the Disciplines List. While the ASCCC has successfully revised the Disciplines List revisions process to an annual cycle, per the direction of Resolution 10.01 F16, faculty have asserted through Resolution 10.01 S18 that many updates to individual disciplines are needed, as "The original Disciplines List was approved in 1989, with many of the discipline minimum qualifications having remained unchanged since its original publication." However, even the annual process of revising the disciplines list for a single discipline is extensive, and many of the minimum qualifications in the Disciplines List do not reflect current degree titles in the same discipline. Without the legally required use of equivalency processes, many qualified applicants would be excluded.

On the other hand, the authority to determine equivalent qualifications is not a license or justification for a district to lower or waive standards and accept less-than-qualified individuals. The fact that a particular candidate is the best a college can find does not change the requirement that he or she must possess qualifications at least equal to the published minimum qualifications.

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

The Academic Senate for California Community Colleges is empowered through California Education Code §87357(a)(1) to make recommendations to the California Community Colleges Board of Governors regarding minimum qualifications for faculty. Through the ASCCC's Disciplines List revisions process, faculty initiate and lead minimum qualifications proposals through public hearings, debate and action by ASCCC plenary session delegates, and approval by the Board of Governors for inclusion in the Disciplines List. Users of the Disciplines List will note that the legal requirement for an equivalence process and the legal permissibility of employing a candidate who possesses qualifications at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications are reflected throughout the Disciplines List, generally in its introduction and specifically with the words "OR the equivalent" for each discipline.

Every district must have an equivalency process. The process for establishing equivalency should specify what the district expects in terms of coursework, work experience, and eminence when considering equivalency applications. Education Code §87359 (b) requires that "[t]he process, as well as criteria, and standards by which the governing board reaches its determination regarding faculty members shall be developed and agreed upon jointly by representatives of the governing board and the academic senate, and approved by the governing board." Subsequent changes proposed to jointly agreed upon policies or procedures for establishing equivalency should undergo the same process for approval. The governing board must rely primarily on the advice of its academic senate, and the board and the senate must jointly agree to proposed changes.

The goal of any equivalency policy should be to ensure the transparent and fair determination of equivalency for applicants that possess qualifications at least equal to the minimum qualifications. The process should be documented and justifiable so that a determination of equivalency is understandable, clear, and supported upon review. Sound policy dictates that the practice of granting equivalencies must not mean lowering standards. Conversely, a district is not allowed to refuse to consider equivalencies in the name of raising standards. The equivalency process was created by Assembly Bill 1725 (Vasconcellos) in 1988 and chaptered into California Education Code. Districts are not free to ignore this provision within the law. Academic senates should regularly review their policies, procedures, and practices for determining equivalency and update them for clarity and effectiveness as needed.

The local academic senate, with the concurrence of the district governing board, is responsible for defining and maintaining the equivalency process for faculty applicants. Academic senates must focus on sound policies and procedures rather than expediency when determining equivalency. Policies and procedures that are designed primarily to address last-minute staffing needs threaten the principle that every instructor in the California Community Colleges system is at least minimally qualified. Education Code establishes faculty and the governing board as jointly responsible for developing policies and practices and designates the academic senate as primarily responsible for determining individual cases of candidates claiming equivalency.

Education Code does not establish the criteria that districts should apply to determine equivalency. While §87359 states that equivalency means "qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications," neither Education Code nor Title 5 Regulations provide any further guidelines for what constitutes "at least equivalent." When taking an action regarding equivalency on the advice, recommendation, or expertise of its academic senate, a governing board sets its standard for equivalency in the eyes of the law. Once the local equivalency process has determined a recommendation regarding an individual applicant, Education Code §87359(a) requires that the governing board take action on the equivalency before hiring occurs.

Applicants who are granted equivalency and subsequently hired retain that status for their entire career in the district that granted the equivalency. When those applicants apply for positions in other districts, they may again need to go through equivalency processes in those other districts because equivalency is not transferable from district to district.

PRINCIPLES

The Academic Senate for California Community Colleges believes that faculty members must exemplify to their students the value of an education that is both well-rounded and specialized. The ASCCC has consistently supported the following basic principles for granting equivalency:

- Equivalency promotes diversity by broadening the applicant pool.
- Equivalent to the minimum qualifications means equal to the minimum qualifications, not nearly equal.

- Applicants must provide evidence that they have attained the breadth of coursework or experience equal to the general education component of an earned associate's or bachelor's degree.
- Applicants must provide evidence demonstrating attainment of the skills and knowledge provided by specialized coursework required for the degree listed in the Disciplines List.
- Local hiring procedures should support applicants seeking equivalency by providing public-facing
 information that makes clear the definition of and process for requesting equivalency and provides
 resources to help applicants new to the California Community College system and unfamiliar with
 its nomenclature to navigate the equivalency process.
- Faculty members exemplify to their students the value of an education that is both well-rounded and specialized and has consistently defined associate's degree parameters. Faculty should act as models for students by demonstrating a breadth of general education knowledge and a depth of knowledge that is discipline specific.
- Eminence should not be used as the sole criteria for granting equivalence (ASCCC Resolution 10.01 SP09).
- No provisional or conditional equivalency should exist.

EQUIVALENCE AS PART OF THE HIRING PROCESS

A community college's commitment to equity, diversity, and inclusion should be intentional, explicit, and evident in all aspects of the institution. Three principles that can be leveraged to increase equity, diversity, and inclusion at a community college are focusing on the institution itself, promoting awareness of systems both nationally and within the institution that require re-evaluation to eliminate ingrained biases, and intentionally advancing equitable practices and equity-mindedness. The ASCCC's commitment to equity and faculty diversification has existed for decades and is well-documented through many resolutions and adopted position papers, reaching back before the careers of many current faculty began. In the California Community Colleges system's current equity framework, institutions seeking to foster equity, diversity, and inclusion, will continually reassess their cultures and practices. The ASCCC has provided extensive guidance and resources on hiring procedures as they relate to faculty diversification in the 2018 paper *A Re-examination of Faculty Hiring Processes and Procedures*.

The hiring process is of critical, if not paramount, importance with respect to an institution's ability to attract diverse, qualified applicants. A college's local equivalency process matters greatly as a component of its overall hiring process and the California Community Colleges system's goal of diversifying faculty. If the equivalency process is exclusionary by nature, or if requests for equivalency are routinely denied without due consideration of evidence and adherence to locally established standards for equivalency, then the equivalency process, its relationship to the institution's overall hiring procedures, and its ability to meet the system-wide goal of faculty diversification should be carefully examined. Local academic senates should review equivalency processes to ensure that equivalency is only granted to candidates who possess preparation that is at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications while also considering the equivalence process' relationship to the college's hiring process and to equity, diversity, and inclusion.

Criteria for Determining Equivalent Qualifications

Many criteria for determining equivalency seem obvious and can be handled in a simple manner. Others are more difficult. The three usual means of demonstrating equivalency are coursework, work experience, and eminence.

Any applicant should be expected to provide evidence of equivalent preparation that is as reliable and objective as a transcript. Thus, a candidate seeking equivalence should be measured by the same criteria as a candidate who possesses the minimum qualifications. Evaluating experience depends on the candidate's ability to provide objective, detailed information from sources other than the candidate's statements about what exactly the candidate did.

Establishing equivalency through coursework is often relatively simple, as transcripts are concrete documents that can be compared to concrete criteria. A clear-cut example of equivalency through coursework occurs when an applicant has all the appropriate courses for the relevant degree but the applicant's diploma or degree has a different title or area of expertise. For example, if an applicant earned a degree in business because a particular college or university combined its economics and business programs but the coursework on the transcript shows the academic work completed is the same as that for an economics degree, then that business degree would be equivalent to a degree in economics for the potential faculty member. Instances of determining equivalency when the title of an applicant's earned degree or the title of some coursework is slightly different from the minimum qualifications have increased with the rise of specialized titles at the university level. Review of catalog descriptions of courses and degrees is often helpful in these cases.

A somewhat more difficult case would occur when the name of a degree is close to that specified on the Disciplines List but the coursework is slightly different. An example of this challenge occurs in determining whether a degree in education with a concentration in mathematics is equivalent to a degree in mathematics. Another example of a non-standard title may be an earned doctorate in mythological studies. Such a degree may be equivalent to the disciplines of English or religious studies, but a careful review of coursework is needed.

A perennial question regarding equivalency involves applicants who have advanced to candidacy for a doctorate and completed coursework at the graduate level but do not have an earned degree other than at the baccalaureate level. In some fields, entering a doctoral program without first completing a master's degree is common. While local determinations may vary, equivalency committees should note that if the applicant is hired through equivalency and subsequently fails to complete another earned degree, the district board will have hired a person with only a bachelor's degree and some units to teach in a discipline that typically requires a master's degree. Neither the district nor the academic senate can revoke the determination of equivalency because the faculty member was found to have training at least equal to the minimum qualifications at the time of hire. This example serves to illustrate the concept that no provisional equivalency is allowed. The applicant must be determined to meet the minimum qualifications at the time of hire. The ASCCC advises that local senates should consider these cases with extreme caution.

One final example involves using work experience in determining equivalency to the master's degree. For example, a journalist with a bachelor's degree in English and who has twelve years of work experience in journalism may be an applicant to teach in the discipline of journalism, which typically requires a master's degree. The academic senate or equivalency committee will need to evaluate the components of a master's degree to determine whether the applicant's work experience is commensurate with an earned degree. Typically, no general education requirement exists for a degree beyond the baccalaureate level. The committee may therefore wish to consult the requirements published in local university catalogs to earn a master's degree in journalism and evaluate the materials submitted against those requirements. Of course, no predetermined amount of experience or number of years of work is unquestionably equivalent to a particular degree; ten years of experience may not be equivalent to any degree, while two years of work may be equivalent, depending on the breadth and depth of the experience. Equivalency depends on the nature of the experience and the expectations typically required in a discipline.

Equivalency to the Associate's Degree

A particular consideration that may arise when colleges review equivalencies for career technical areas is determining how an applicant who lacks an associate's degree has acquired the broad knowledge that a general education program provides as well as the discipline-specific knowledge. Evaluation of experience depends on the candidate's ability to provide objective, detailed information from a source other than the candidate's own statements about what exactly the candidate did. For example, military service often requires technical training and certificate attainment that, while not the same as college credit, may be equivalent to college credit in certain areas of the general education pattern. While the provision for and consideration of such evidence can be a challenge for applicants and local senates, demonstration of this knowledge is vital because general education preparation should endow instruction of any subject with an essential cross-curricular breadth and depth while specialization or discipline requirements demonstrate detailed familiarity with a field of study. The ability to communicate a broad understanding regarding the context of discipline-specific knowledge is key in all disciplines. The general education pattern establishes a baseline knowledge expectation of all faculty. The ASCCC contends that both the discipline-specific expertise to give depth of knowledge and the general education breadth of knowledge are required to meet equivalency.

Colleges must also distinguish between general education preparation and specialized preparation. The ASCCC supports the principle that all community college faculty exemplify the qualities of a college-educated person. All faculty must be able to communicate how their discipline content is relevant to the myriad other fields of study and the world at large. For this reason, the universal minimum requirement for all disciplines not requiring a master's degree includes at least an associate's degree. The ASCCC's *Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit* provides specific resources for considering, evaluating, and documenting equivalence to the general education pattern delineated in Title 5 §55063, including equivalency portfolio model standards and a CTE minimum qualifications general education equivalency worksheet to assist applicants throughout the process. These are excellent resources that local academic senates should thoughtfully consider when updating local equivalency processes.

When an equivalency committee reviews an applicant's possible equivalency, the committee should consider whether the applicant satisfies the general education qualifications for which he or she seeks equivalency. One of the most difficult cases occurs when work experience is proposed as the equivalent of academic work. Knowledge acquired in a course could also be gained in other ways; however, the problem lies in obtaining convincing evidence to establish that an applicant has enough necessary educational preparation through an alternative means to be judged equally knowledgeable as someone with the appropriate degree. Of course, no set amount of experience is unquestionably equivalent to a particular degree. Equivalency depends on the nature of the experience and the ability to document the connection between the experience and the requirements of qualification.

The issue of equivalency to the associate's degree has been reported as a persistent concern in some career technical fields where the minimum qualification is any associate's degree and six years of work experience. For example, a fashion designer without any degree who has spent two decades in the fashion industry and can provide documented evidence of a breadth of work and experience in print and film might apply to teach in the discipline of fashion and related technologies. The equivalency committee or academic senate must consider whether the applicant has the equivalent to the general education breadth requirements and the equivalent depth of a discipline required of an associate's degree. For this example, the depth of a discipline requirement may not be in question, but the general education component is. Some academic senates have used the requirements for an associate's degree outlined in Title 5 when examining cases like this one. Title 5 §55063 defines the components of the associate's degree as follows:

- · competency in reading;
- competency in written expression at the level of Freshman Composition;
- competency in mathematics at the level of Intermediate Algebra;
- at least 18 units of discipline-specific preparation;
- at least 18 units of general education in the areas of
 - o natural sciences
 - social and behavioral sciences
 - humanities
 - language and rationality

Some colleges may ask their academic senate's equivalency committee to evaluate how applicants meet or exceed these requirements. The *Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit* contains extensive resources to assist local senates and equivalency committees in evaluating and documenting equivalency to the associate's degree.

In the absence of a clear and agreed upon way to determine what is equivalent to the general education component of an associate's degree, colleges might consider using their institutional learning outcomes as metrics for determining whether a faculty member's experience is equivalent to general education

requirements. Another possibility is to use the outcomes listed on C-ID descriptors for general education courses. Prospective faculty seeking equivalency may be asked to provide documentation consisting of examples of work product or coursework to demonstrate proficiency in those outcomes. This practice may address the need for a candidate to show that he or she exemplifies the qualities of an educated person.

Determining Eminence

Some districts recognize eminence as a basis for granting equivalency. Although eminence is not specified in current law, it is not prohibited. A 1992 Chancellor's Office publication titled *An Analysis of Faculty Equivalency Policies* found that twenty districts allowed equivalency through eminence in their policies, and other districts seem to have added this avenue in the years since.

As common as eminence is in policy, this designation poses problems because districts define the term differently. Equivalency committees must determine what should constitute eminence and the degree of eminence required in the absence of a legal definition of the term.

The Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit defines eminence as follows: "Eminence is a recognized status of a well-qualified industry professional who has achieved recognized superiority in the industry or discipline content. Eminence can be defined by professional achievements that demonstrate the person is a leader and commonly recognized in [the applicant's] industry in ways analogous to codified academic accomplishment." Historical analysis helps to demonstrate how this term has been used. A previous Title 5 regulation that has now been repealed defined eminence as "superior knowledge and skill... in comparison with the generally accepted standard of achievement in the subject field." Furthermore, this regulation indicated how eminence should be determined by stating, "[d]etermination of eminence should be based on a conviction that the applicant, if measured by recognized authorities in [the applicant's] subject field, would be judged superior." Some districts require that an applicant who claims eminence must be recognized beyond her or his geographic area. Other districts have no clear criteria and make decisions on a case-by-case basis. Some might explain eminence by saying, "I don't know how to describe it, but I know it when I see it." If the concept of eminence can be known, it should be describable.

Another consideration with the concept of equivalency by eminence is that it does not include any reference to the broad educational background provided by a general education. A person may be recognized by his or her peers as having extraordinary skills and knowledge but may not possess the equivalent of completing a general education program. For this reason, eminence has been used by some districts in combination with other criteria, such as an associate or bachelor's degree.

Finally, districts that choose to use eminence, especially on a case-by-case basis, risk exposing themselves to allegations that hiring criteria are not applied equally to all candidates. If no pre-defined criteria exists and candidate A is granted equivalency based on eminence while candidate B's appeal for equivalency based on eminence is denied, candidate B may charge that the decision involved bias. For this reason, some equally applied test or standard of eminence should be used.

A basic practice for addressing such scenarios could be enlisting the assistance of individuals in the field but not at the college and within some reasonably large area including the location of the candidate. These individuals could be asked who they would think of when asked to name top people in the field or if they consider a certain individual eminent. Once a person not connected with the college has named or has agreed with the naming of the candidate as eminent, that person could be asked to describe what makes the candidate eminent by explaining whether the candidate is someone to whom others in the field turn for definitive answers to questions, for help in solving problems including those requiring a range of knowledge beyond narrow technical problems, or to critique their work or the work of students in the field. Answers pointing to broader knowledge and communication skills might meet descriptions offered by those who are asked what might be observed about a person having taken general education coursework.

Most equivalency committees or academic senates will not survey people working in a particular field, but the concept of doing so applies when a college is attempting to develop a consistent definition of what equivalency through eminence would look like and to document the process used to apply that definition. Some suggestions for academic senates as they craft or review a policy that includes equivalency through eminence may require any or all of the following:

- Eminence should not be used as the sole criterion for granting equivalency (Senate Resolution 10.01 SP09).
- Documentation may include regional or national peer-reviewed publications authored by the applicant.
- Documentation may include regional or national publications regarding the applicant's work product.
- Documentation may include evidence of leadership in state or national professional organizations that are discipline specific.
- Documentation may include national awards pertaining to the discipline.
- Formal action by the academic senate at large may be required for granting equivalency based on eminence.

Whatever the local criteria for establishing equivalency through eminence may be, it should be explicitly delineated and documented. Equivalency is uncommon, as most applicants should meet the minimum qualifications listed in the Disciplines List, but equivalency through eminence should be particularly rare.

EQUIVALENCY COMMITTEES: COMPOSITION AND INFORMATION COLLECTION

Judging whether a specific candidate's experience is equivalent to the minimum qualifications can be difficult, and therefore equivalency discussions must involve faculty in the discipline in question to inform the academic senate's decision. Nonetheless, to ensure that colleagues in various disciplines function with some consistency across the campus, the academic senate should include faculty from a variety of the disciplines in the discussion. An effective practice adopted by some academic senates is to create an equivalency committee that serves for an entire academic year to evaluate requests. In such a case, a mechanism that includes the discipline faculty voice should be written into the process, as the standing committee may not have a representative from the discipline in question. Often, a faculty chair or discipline expert is invited to attend the meeting with the equivalency committee.

The benefits to having a breadth of discipline representatives on the equivalency committee include the following:

- The breadth or general education requirements equivalent to an earned degree may be more readily addressed when faculty from other disciplines are involved.
- Committee decisions are often more easily communicated because the logic and credibility of a specific decision is more easily understood by any external agency or future senate leader when more faculty voices are involved.
- Decision making is more consistent when committee representatives are constant rather than dependent on the discipline, and their decisions are made without bias.

To ensure that relevant information is available for the faculty charged with determining equivalency, the application for employment should provide the listed minimum qualifications and a place for candidates to indicate whether they possess the minimum qualifications or, if not, why they think they possess equivalent qualifications. The latter may be a separate page with some detailed inquiries. The public-facing information about the equivalency process should be as clear as possible so that an applicant unfamiliar with the district's equivalency process or the concept of equivalency can understand what evidence or artifacts to include with the application.

One of the benefits of equivalency is attracting a broader and potentially more diverse pool of applicants. The following are sample prompts for an equivalency supplement to the application:

- 1. Indicate the discipline for which you claim equivalency.
- 2. Indicate the educational preparation on which you base this claim.
- 3. Indicate the educational preparation and experience on which you base this claim for the general education requirement of this degree.

- 4. If you are using coursework to establish equivalency, submit both a college transcript and copies of the appropriate pages from the college catalog.
- 5. If you are using publications or other work products as evidence of your experience, submit them or links to online copies where appropriate and if possible.
- 6. Describe in detail your work experience that you believe establishes equivalency to the minimum qualifications. If you are using work products or other items that cannot be submitted as evidence, provide detailed information from an objective source about the nature of this work product or experience along with contact or reference information about the source.

Faculty Responsibilities, Equivalency Committees, and the Role of the Human Resources Office

Determination of equivalency is a faculty responsibility through the academic senate under California Education Code §87359. While governing boards are granted the final legal authority to approve equivalencies, academic senates are responsible for determining whether an applicant possesses the equivalent of the published minimum qualifications. Faculty in the discipline in question possess the academic expertise needed to understand qualifications in that discipline. However, the urgent need to staff classes can sometimes lead to questionable judgment in equivalency determinations. Colleges should create an equivalency committee external to a hiring committee and external to the part-time faculty hiring process to evaluate applications where equivalency is in question and to determine equivalency.

Many local academic senates use an equivalency committee to ensure that the equivalency process is consistently and fairly applied for all requests for review from all disciplines. Effective practice includes making the equivalency committee a standing college committee or a sub-committee of the academic senate. Equivalency committees typically consist of three to five members, each member selected for a term of at least one year, with faculty members appointed by the academic senate. Often, as the committee meets to evaluate each request for equivalency from across the disciplines, a representative from the discipline in question is invited to participate. This process ensures at least one discipline expert for each consideration of the committee. As with all appointments to committees, the academic senate should ensure that faculty appointed to the equivalency committee represent the diversity of the faculty and the community they serve. In some cases, equivalency committees may include administrators, but this practice should be discussed by the local senate to determine advantages and disadvantages. The equivalency committee should be trained on its role of determining only whether an applicant's qualifications meet or exceed the minimum qualifications. Other parts of the hiring process will evaluate additional requirements such as teaching ability and content expertise; the equivalency process is only concerned with determining who may be considered as part of the pool of applicants.

The role of the Human Resources Office in determining equivalency should be limited to collecting and forwarding applications and other pertinent information to the academic senate or equivalency committee. Human Resources Office staff should not be the arbiter of equivalency. A college district that permits its Human Resources Office staff to establish equivalency risks hiring candidates that do not meet minimum qualifications and is out of compliance with Education Code §87359 (b) and Title 5 Regulation

§53430 (b). The Human Resources Office should ensure that the necessary information is collected from applicants at the time the application is submitted in order to support an effective equivalency process. Many districts use a supplemental form to the application to collect information in cases where a determination of equivalency is necessary. The Human Resources Office should also keep a record of the outcomes of the equivalency process.

The hiring committee or a subset of the hiring committee charged with screening full-time faculty applicants should review applications to determine cases in which an equivalency determination is needed before beginning the paper screening process. When a determination of equivalency is needed, the equivalency committee should meet after receiving materials provided by the applicant requesting equivalency or the Human Resources Office. At least one member of the hiring committee for a full-time faculty position should meet with the equivalency committee to provide background. If faculty in the discipline participate at the heart of the equivalency process and if care is taken when collecting the necessary information to determine equivalency, the process can be done fairly and expeditiously while still maintaining the standards set in Title 5 Regulations.

DETERMINATION OF EQUIVALENCY FOR PART-TIME HIRES

Minimum qualifications in a discipline—and, by extension, equivalency—are the same whether the position is full-time or part-time. Title 5 Regulations do not allow for a different standard of equivalency for part-time faculty. An applicant is either qualified to teach the full range of courses in a discipline or not, regardless of whether applying for a full-time or part-time position.

One challenge that college instruction offices often face is how to provide a means by which the academic senate can make a determination of equivalency for part-time hires, especially during times when few faculty are on campus. Ideally, the college should hire part-time faculty from a pool of available applicants whose minimum qualifications or equivalencies are established before classes are staffed. Unfortunately, part-time faculty hiring is frequently done under a tight time schedule, and a dean or department chair may seek equivalency to avoid closing a course section due to a lack of applicants that meet minimum qualifications. Faculty must ensure that all hires, including those granted equivalency, possess qualifications at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications, but equivalency committees, academic senate presidents, and others involved in the hiring process may feel pressure to act quickly or during a time that they are regularly off contract.

Provisions in the local equivalency process should attempt to strike a balance between minimum qualification requirements and the need to expedite the process. The equivalency committee should consider ways to be flexible and provide the faculty oversight needed when determining equivalency, even at times when full-time faculty tend to be off-contract. A mutual understanding between the administration, the local bargaining unit, and the academic senate should be reached regarding the work faculty do when serving on an equivalency committee while technically off-contract.

However, the inability to convene an equivalency committee should not be seen as a reason for the Human Resources Office or any administrator to circumvent the process to determine equivalency for

an applicant who does not meet the minimum qualifications. When faculty are hired under equivalency but were not granted equivalency by a process agreed to by the academic senate, those hires may be legally challenged and students may lose the units they have earned in classes taught by the challenged faculty member, potentially putting the entire district at risk. Faculty that were granted equivalency incorrectly may challenge the district if the district does not rehire them in the future, which could result in the district losing state apportionment and the students losing units earned.

THE SINGLE-COURSE EQUIVALENCY ISSUE

Minimum qualifications are determined for disciplines, not for courses or subject areas within disciplines. In short, Education Code and Title 5 Regulations do not allow for a faculty member to be granted equivalency to teach a single course rather than an entire discipline.

To verify this interpretation of relevant Education Code language, the ASCCC requested a legal opinion from the California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office's general counsel in 2004. The response was Legal Opinion L 03-28 (R. Black, 2004),⁵ which supports the position that "a district is not authorized to establish a single course equivalency as a substitute for meeting minimum qualifications in a discipline." This opinion reaffirms the importance of the ASCCC's Disciplines List revision process as the foundation of the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*. Legal Opinion L 03-28 also affirms that single-course provisional credentials are no longer valid. The opinion concludes firmly and simply that "a district is not authorized to establish a single course equivalency as a substitute for meeting minimum qualifications in a discipline."

Some disciplines at colleges faced with a scarcity of faculty to teach courses have attempted the single-course equivalency solution. Although reasons for desiring to circumvent these regulations may stem from understandable difficulties, such problems are no excuse for hiring someone who is not qualified to teach in the discipline. Individuals hired as faculty members, both full-time and part-time, are expected to have the expertise to teach the range of courses in the disciplines for which they were hired. To require less from some faculty would be to develop a second class of less qualified instructors and thereby compromise the integrity of the entire faculty body. If a district hires a faculty member under an equivalency to teach only one or two courses in the discipline, such as keyboarding in computer applications or basic firearms in administration of justice, that person was granted equivalency to teach any course within the discipline and could request and be assigned to teach a course he or she is not prepared or qualified to teach. Colleges can solve some of the hiring problems they face by creating more full-time positions to attract fully qualified applicants and creating mentorship opportunities and pathways to higher education degrees for industry professionals in CTE programs. The Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit includes examples of mentorship programs that can be applied as resources.

Those responsible for staffing may attempt to craft special limitations related to equivalency to the minimum qualifications in order to justify hiring applicants who appear qualified to teach only a certain

⁵ See Appendix C.

⁶ See Education Code §87357 (b).

course or subject within a discipline. At first glance, such a solution may appear reasonable, but local academic senates and governing boards should not and legally cannot grant single-course equivalencies. For example, a department head of kinesiology might request that an equivalency committee grant equivalency to a person who would be hired to teach aerobics based on the applicant's experience in that specialty and bachelor's degree in exercise physiology, a related discipline. Even though this individual may seem to be very well qualified to teach aerobics, the applicant does not meet the minimum qualifications for physical education. Even if the department head assures all concerned that this individual would be assigned to teach only aerobics and no other course offered as physical education, a decision to grant such an equivalency would constitute a violation of Education Code §87359, which calls for "qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications." In addition, part-time re-hire and seniority rights could at some point in the future give the individual a contractual right to be assigned to teach other courses within the discipline. For the sake of maintaining the integrity of the teaching profession, the ASCCC urges local senates to resist situations such as the above example and demand that their colleges' equivalency processes comply with Education Code and state regulations without allowance for any such adaptations. Misapplications of equivalency regulations clearly undermine the required standards of minimum qualifications..

An alternate solution that is both expedient and appropriate is to assign a course to a range of disciplines based on the Disciplines List. This practice will increase the number of qualified faculty who can teach the course, as noted in the ASCCC's 1994 adopted paper *Placement of Courses in Disciplines*. For example, a college might appropriately assign a course associated with coaching soccer to the discipline of coaching as well as to the discipline of physical education, and if an individual were to be granted equivalency only in coaching, he or she would be able to teach the class but could not claim equivalency to teach courses in physical education.

Likewise, a pedagogically sound and appropriate practice might be to assign a course such as word processing to a range of disciplines. Instead of this course being assigned only to the discipline of business, it could also be assigned to computer service technology, computer information systems, and office technology. An instructor with minimum qualifications or equivalency in office technology who is hired to teach a word processing class could not then legitimately request assignment to other courses in business without meeting the minimum qualifications for business.

DETERMINING EQUIVALENCY IN MULTI-COLLEGE DISTRICTS

When a faculty member is hired, he or she is hired by a district, not a college. In most multi-college districts, faculty members can be assigned to any facility or combination of facilities in that district, although practice varies according to negotiated policies defining rights of assignment and transfer. A variety of possibilities exist for establishing and applying equivalency in multi-college districts.

Each college may have its own equivalency policy and procedures that the local governing board accepts, although the board is likely to insist on consistency between or among the colleges in the district. If colleges within a district have different policies and procedures, each college's faculty would have to

accept the possibility that someone hired under the equivalency policy at a sister college may be assigned to their college unless bargaining agreements or other policies preclude this possibility.

An alternative arrangement is to have a district-wide equivalency policy and set of procedures to which the academic senate of each college agrees. Hiring committees would submit the documentation of applicants who claim equivalency to a college or district equivalency committee that would make decisions based on the district-wide accepted procedures and standards of evidence. This arrangement has the advantage of allowing a part-time instructor whose equivalency has been established to work at any college in a district.

Some multi-college districts may create a district equivalency committee typically comprised of members from all colleges. Such a committee may have regular meetings to process applications for potential faculty as they are received by human resources.

A critical obligation of any equivalency policy in a multi-college district is to ensure, to the extent feasible, the equal application of policy among the colleges. The colleges are not well served if a person rejected at one college within the district is then accepted at another and then transferred or deemed automatically qualified at all the colleges in the district. On the other hand, having separate judgments at different colleges allows for periodic discussions and norming activities that can help maintain rigor and broader perspectives concomitantly.

CONCLUSION

Education Code provides the intent language of equivalency and is explicit concerning faculty responsibility: faculty members derive their authority from their expertise as teachers and subject matter specialists and from their status as professionals. As a result, the faculty have an inherent professional responsibility in the development and implementation of policies and procedures governing the hiring process. Equivalency considered in this light should remind faculty that their guide must be the qualifications published in the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*. Legal Opinion L 03-28 reiterates and supports adherence to minimum qualifications for a discipline. To maintain the academic integrity of the California community colleges and their faculty, equivalency to those minimum qualifications for hire must be granted with careful consideration.

RECOMMENDATIONS

- 1. Every district must have an equivalency process.
- 2. Equivalency determinations should be made by an equivalency committee that is a subcommittee or standing committee of the academic senate.
- 3. The equivalency committee should include representatives appointed by the academic senate to ensure that the process is consistent and fair.
- 4. Equivalency should be determined with input from discipline faculty.
- 5. Equivalency processes for part-time faculty and emergency hires should be no different from equivalency for full-time faculty.
- 6. Local academic senates must ensure that their district and college policies and processes do not allow for single-course equivalencies.
- 7. Academic senates should assure consistency of the equivalency process.
- 8. Equivalency decisions should be based on direct evidence of claims, such as transcripts, publications, and work products.
- 9. The determination of equivalency should be documented and justifiable to an external review.
- 10. Claims of equivalence must include how both general education and specialization requirements are met.
- 11. Human resources offices should not screen for equivalency but should maintain records of the outcomes and documentation of equivalency requests.
- 12. Local academic senates must never allow equivalency to be delegated to administration or classified staff or allow determinations to degenerate into a gathering of signatures without discussion.
- 13. Equivalency policies should be reviewed regularly to ensure that the equivalency process aligns with the overall hiring process and that it promotes faculty diversification and affirms the college's commitment to equity, diversification, and inclusion.
- 14. Tools in the ASCCC's *Career Technical Education Faculty Minimum Qualifications Toolkit* should be considered in reviews of equivalency policies.
- 15. Criteria for the acceptance of eminence as a means to establish equivalency should be clearly defined in hiring policy. Eminence must not be the sole basis for the determination of equivalency.
- 16. Once the local equivalency process has reached a recommendation regarding an individual applicant, Education Code §87359(a) requires that the governing board take action on the equivalency before hiring occurs.

Equivalency to the minimum qualifications is an important mechanism to ensure consideration of a diverse group of qualified applicants that can engage and enhance student learning. Additional training materials may be obtained from the ASCCC Office or through its website at asccc.org.

APPENDIX A: SAMPLE BOARD POLICY AND PROCEDURE

No. 7122 BP Human Resources

Minimum Qualifications, and Equivalency

Reference: Education Code Sections 87355-87359.5; 86360

Title 5 California Code of Regulations Sections 53410 - 53417

The _____ Community College District shall establish procedures for determining faculty service areas that adhere to collective bargaining agreements.

In addition, the College District will establish procedures to determine minimum qualifications and equivalencies for minimum qualifications for hiring faculty that are compliant with relevant sections of the Education Code and Title 5 regulations and include reasonable procedures to ensure that the Governing Board relies primarily upon the advice and judgment of the Academic Senate to determine that each individual employed under the authority granted by the regulations possesses qualifications that are "at least equivalent to the applicable minimum qualifications" per Education Code Section 87359(b). These procedures will ensure the hiring of highly qualified faculty who are experts in their subject matter areas, who are skilled in teaching and serving the needs of a varied student population, who can foster overall college effectiveness, and who are sensitive to and themselves represent the racial and cultural diversity of the College District community. The academic senate will regularly review these procedures and make recommendations to update them to ensure that the procedures promote equity, diversity, and inclusion.

NEW PROCEDURE

No. 7211 AP Human Resources

Minimum Qualifications and Equivalency

Reference: Education Code Sections 87001, 87003, 87355-87359.5; 86360, 87743.2

Title 5 California Code of Regulations Sections 53406, 53410 – 53417

THE ROLE OF HUMAN RESOURCES

The role of the Human Resources office is to collect, date-stamp, and forward applications and other pertinent information to the appropriate discipline selection committee (full-time) or discipline or department faculty and dean (part-time).

In addition, Human Resources ensures that the established minimum qualifications for the position will be listed in the job description/announcement. The District criteria for equivalency will be available at the Human Resources Department. A statement will be included in the application materials requiring all candidates who do not possess minimum qualifications to indicate in the application material how they meet the equivalent qualifications for the position and to provide supporting documentation. The burden of proof for minimum qualifications and equivalency is on the applicant.

Human Resources staff will verify that applicants have the appropriate credential, or that applicants claiming the required minimum qualifications show the appropriate degrees on their transcript. If there is an experience requirement, College District Human Resource staff will verify that the applicant has the required number years of experience, but will not judge if the experience is appropriate.

If the applicant claims to possess the minimum qualifications, but the degree titles are significantly different from those listed in the "Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges," that application shall be considered under the equivalency process even if the applicant did not claim equivalency. Human Resources will rely primarily on the Academic Senate, in consultation with administration, to determine equivalency of degree titles based on an examination of an applicant's transcripts.

Human Resources forwards all applications which satisfy the credentials requirement, satisfy the minimum qualifications requirement, or are deemed to be equivalent to the college selection committee (full-time) or to the dean and chair in that department (part-time).

THE ROLE OF THE ACADEMIC SENATE

The Academic Senate will review and evaluate the equivalency process and this procedure every ______ year(s) to ensure that it adheres to appropriate regulatory requirements and that it functions as a component of the hiring process to promote equity, inclusion, and diversity.

SUPPLEMENTAL EQUIVALENCY APPLICATION

Human Resources is responsible for maintaining a "Supplemental Equivalency Application." If a candidate's degrees and qualifications differ from the minimum qualifications listed for the position, but the candidate possesses preparation that is at least the equivalent of the minimum qualification, the candidate should apply for equivalency. If a potential employee applies for a position and wishes to complete a "Supplemental Equivalency Application for Academic Employment." the following information should be provided:

- 1. Degree for which the applicant claims equivalency.
- 2. The educational preparation on which the applicant bases this claim for the major of the minimum degree.

- 3. The educational preparation on which the applicant bases this claim for the general education requirement of the minimum degree.
- 4. The relevant courses the applicant has taken or other evidence that the applicant has the equivalent of the General Education portion of the minimum degree.
- 5. An official transcript and copies of the appropriate pages from the catalog of the institution that granted the degree upon which the applicant bases a claim of equivalency.
- 6. Publications or other work products that support a claim of equivalency.
- 7. A detailed description of work experience which the applicant believes establishes equivalency to the minimum qualifications. If the applicant is using work products or other items which cannot be submitted, provide detailed information from an objective source about the nature of this work product or experience.

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

The goal of the ______Community College District is to provide a faculty of highly qualified professional educators who are experts in their fields, skilled in teaching, and serve the needs of a varied student population. The District also seeks those who can promote overall college effectiveness and who are sensitive to the diversity of the District community. The College District shall employ faculty who possess the minimum qualifications, as established by the California State Chancellor's Office (see publication, *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*).

Faculty are responsible for including a minimum qualification on all new curriculum or as part of a curriculum review process. All curriculum should be placed within a discipline that is identified as having a minimum qualification. It is best practice to place curriculum in the discipline that best matches the course content and for which the minimum qualifications of faculty best match the course content.

For departments that include courses with dual designators, deans and chairs from all relevant programs will collaborate to ensure the most qualified faculty teach these courses and minimum qualifications are met.

EQUIVALENCY

All community college faculty should exemplify the qualities of a college educated person.

Pursuant to Education Code Section 87359, the equivalency process "shall include reasonable procedures to ensure that the Governing Board relies primarily upon the advice and judgment of the Academic Senate to determine that each individual employed under the authority granted by the regulations possesses qualifications that are at least equivalent to the applicable minimum qualifications."

Equivalency may be recognized in three major ways: course work, work experience, and eminence in the field or a combination of the three.

EQUIVALENCY COMMITTEE

The Equivalency Committee is a subcommittee of the Academic Senate. The committee is comprised of three faculty members appointed by the Academic Senate president and up to two administrators who are designated by the VPAA and are advisory to the process. The Equivalency Committee is not subject to the Brown Act for Public Meetings.

PROCESS FOR DETERMINATION OF EQUIVALENCY

In order to determine when an applicant for a faculty position who lacks the specific degree or experience specified in the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges* Handbook possesses qualifications that are equivalent, the following process has been established:

- 1. When Human Resources stipulates that a determination of equivalency is needed, the Equivalency Committee will be called to meet as soon as possible. Human Resources will provide the Equivalency Committee with the necessary information to determine equivalency no less than three working days prior to the meeting.
- 2. The dean, discipline faculty, and applicant may address the committee and provide additional information prior to the committee making a decision.
- 3. Determination of equivalency to the minimum qualifications for hire shall be decided, by majority vote in the Equivalency Committee and is final. The Equivalency Committee will document their determination in writing and send it to Human Resources within 5 working days.
- 4. If new information becomes available, a new request for equivalency may be submitted.
- 5. Human Resources will forward the written rationale from the Equivalency Committee explaining the equivalency decision to the applicant and dean.
- 6. The results of the Equivalency Committee decision shall be documented by Human Resources and records kept of all decisions. Individual voting by Committee members will not be recorded.
- 7. Education Code §87359(a) requires that the governing board take action on the equivalency before hiring occurs. Equivalencies shall be forward to the Office of the Superintendent President to be placed on a Governing Board agenda.

STANDARDS AND CRITERIA APPLICABLE FOR DETERMINING EQUIVALENCY

The following standards and criteria apply when determining equivalency:

1. Minimum qualifications in a discipline—and, by extension, equivalency—are the same whether the position is for a full-time or part-time faculty member.

- 2. Equivalency is determined for an entire discipline, not on a course-by-course basis, per legal opinion l 03-28. The granting of equivalency is on a case-by-case basis and does not set precedence for future hires.
- 3. Past equivalency decisions in the discipline will be made available as needed to the Equivalency Committee or to the dean and chair in that department to aid in their deliberations and can be considered when determining equivalency, though they do not establish precedence.
- 4. Should an equivalency be granted, that decision shall not give the applicant any more or any less consideration than other applicants. In addition, granting an equivalency neither guarantees an interview nor a job.
- 5. It is the applicant's responsibility to provide all documentation in support of equivalency and to be available for questions. Applicants wishing to establish equivalency through work experience should provide objective, detailed information about those work experiences. Any applicant who fails to provide evidence to support his/her the claim of a credential, or of minimum qualifications, or of equivalency may be eliminated from the applicant pool.
- 6. Various occupational experiences may be combined to total the required number of years established by the minimum qualifications; all experience must have taken place within the ten years preceding the date of application with at least one year of qualified experience occurring within the three years immediately preceding the date of application.
- 7. For the Performing Arts, a bachelor's degree in the discipline plus advanced degree from an accredited institution specific to that art, or a bachelor's degree in the discipline and four years of professional experience in the discipline, is required to be considered for equivalency.
- 8. No candidate for a full-time position shall be recommended as a finalist to the President without meeting the minimum qualifications or having been verified as meeting the equivalency.
- 9. No candidate for part-time employment shall be hired without either meeting the minimum qualifications or having been verified as meeting equivalency per these procedures.

PROVISIONAL EQUIVALENCY

Effective beginning in fall 2015, the Equivalency Committee will not grant provisional or temporary equivalency. All faculty hires must possess the minimum qualifications or be determined to possess equivalency to the minimum qualifications to be employed by the college district.

ADDITIONAL CRITERIA FOR THE EQUIVALENCY COMMITTEE

In all cases in which equivalency is granted or denied, an officially signed form shall be filed with the Office of Human Resources and the Office of Academic Affairs. This form shall include a complete description of the Equivalency Committee's reasons for determining that a candidate does or does not have the equivalent of the minimum qualifications for the position. The Human Resources Office is responsible for creating and maintaining this documentation.

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CONSIDERATION OF EQUIVALENCY TO MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS IN DISCIPLINES REQUIRING A MASTER'S DEGREE

In order to be considered for equivalency, In the case of disciplines normally requiring a Master's degree, the minimum standard shall be any one of the following:

- 1. A Master's degree in a discipline which is not specifically named in *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges* for the particular discipline in question, but which, when courses (and course descriptions) are carefully reviewed, clearly constitutes parallel and/or closely related coursework to the discipline which is specifically listed in *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*.
- 2. In specific disciplines as named by the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges*, a bachelor's degree in the discipline, plus licensure by an appropriate state agency, plus at least two years of professional experience, verified in writing.

MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CONSIDERATION OF EQUIVALENCY TO MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS IN DISCIPLINES THAT DO NOT REQUIRE A MASTER'S DEGREE

In order to be considered for equivalency in the case of disciplines not normally requiring a Master's degree, the minimum standards shall be one of the following:

- 1. An Associate degree plus six years of related experience
- 2. Bachelor's degree plus two years of related experience,
- 3. Associate degree plus graduation from an institution specific to that field, plus two years of professional experience in the discipline, verified in writing, plus appropriate certification to practice or licensure, if applicable.
- 4. Pursuant to Title 5 § 53406, all degrees and coursework must be from colleges/universities accredited by one of the intersegmental accrediting agencies: Western Association of Schools and Colleges, Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools, New England Association of Schools and Colleges, North Central Associations of Colleges and Schools, Southern Association of Colleges and Schools, and Northwest Association of Schools and Colleges.

QUALIFICATIONS ESTABLISHED BY DEGREES AND COURSEWORK FROM EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES

Applicants wishing to be granted equivalency based on coursework completed at an educational institution outside of the United States must provide the following:

- 1. A transcript assessment by a third party degree assessment service.
- 2. Proof that the institution is accredited in its country of operation or in the United States.

LOCAL MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS AND EQUIVALENCIES

Disciplines wishing to add local qualifications for hiring to their discipline beyond the minimum qualifications established by the *Minimum Qualifications for Faculty and Administrators in California Community Colleges* may do so with approval of the Academic Senate with a recommendation from the Equivalency Committee. Local requirements may not be added on a course-by-course basis. Equivalency for the local requirement will be determined through the equivalency process. Local requirements cannot exclude the consideration of equivalency.

EMINENCE

Although no legal definition of eminence exists, eminence shall mean that qualifications which, as evidenced by prominence and celebrity, is established by the specific industry and/or community at large and may be deemed equivalent to minimum qualifications. This may include appropriate local, state, national and/or international associations, trade unions, guilds or communities comprised of experts, who are themselves renowned in the specific field, and who can attest, in writing, to the prominence and celebrity of the applicant.

Eminence alone is not sufficient to grant equivalency. An application of equivalency based on eminence must be accompanied by conclusive evidence that the applicant exemplifies qualities of a college-educated person and brings to the college district the knowledge and ability to be expected at the college level. The applicant must provide documentation supporting the status of eminence.

APPENDIX B: RELEVANT EDUCATION CODE REFERENCES

- 1. Education Code §87359: "No one may be hired to serve as a community college faculty member, instructional administrator, or student services administrator under the authority granted by the regulations unless the governing board determines that he or she [the applicant] possesses qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications specified in regulations of the board adopted pursuant to Section 87356. The criteria used by the governing board in making the determination shall be reflected in the governing board's actions employing the individual. The process, as well as criteria and standards by which the governing board reaches its determinations, shall be developed and agreed upon jointly by representatives of the governing board and the academic senate, and approved by the governing board. The agreed upon process shall include reasonable procedures to ensure that the governing board relies primarily upon the advice and judgment of the academic senate to determine that each individual employed under the authority granted by the regulations possesses qualifications that are at least equivalent to the applicable minimum qualification specified in regulations adopted by the board of governors. The process shall further require that the governing board provide the academic senate with an opportunity to present its views to the governing board before the board makes a determination; and that the written record of the decision, including the views of the academic senate, shall be available for review pursuant to Section 87358."
- 2. Education Code §87359(a): "No one may be hired to serve as a community college faculty member or educational administrator under the authority granted by the regulations unless the governing board determines that he or she [the applicant] possesses qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications specified in regulations of the board of governors adopted pursuant to Section 87356. The criteria used by the governing board in making the determination shall be reflected in the governing board's action employing the individual."

APPENDIX C: LEGAL ADVISORY REGARDING SINGLE COURSE EQUIVALENCY

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office 1102 Q street Sacramento, CA 95814-6511 (916) 445-8752 http://www.cccco.edu

December 23, 2003 Mark Snowhite, Secretary Academic Senate for California Community Colleges 428 J Street, Suite 430 Sacramento, CA 95814

Re: Single Course Equivalencies

Legal Opinion L 03-28

Dear Dr. Snowhite:

You requested our assessment of the ability of a community college district to establish a single-course equivalency for hiring faculty. We understand your question to focus on whether a person may be considered to meet minimum qualifications for purposes of teaching a single class where that person does not possess the minimum qualifications (usually a master's degree or its equivalent) in the discipline under which the single course falls.

As you know, Education Code section 87356 requires the Board of Governors to adopt regulations to establish minimum qualifications for service as a community college faculty member. Education Code section 87357 requires the Board of Governors to engage in various activities in establishing those minimum qualifications. Subsection (b) of section 87357 requires the Board to issue a list of disciplines that is to be distributed to the districts "for their use in applying the minimum qualifications for service."

Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations ("title 5"), section 53407 reflects the Board's adoption of disciplines lists. Although the disciplines lists are not fully set out in the regulations, they are incorporated by reference. Section 53407 contemplates disciplines where a master's degree is required as a minimum qualification and disciplines where a master's degree is not generally expected or available as a minimum qualification.

Title 5, section 53410 sets the basic minimum qualifications for credit instructors which include either a master's degree "in the discipline of the faculty member's assignment" or a master's degree

"in a discipline reasonably related" to the assignment and a bachelor's degree "in the discipline of the faculty member's assignment." We believe that these Education Code and title 5 sections establish a firm relationship between the disciplines and minimum qualifications.

Education Code section 87359 requires the Board of Governors to adopt regulations setting forth a process to allow local districts to employ faculty members who do not meet the minimum qualifications adopted by the Board of Governors. The section provides that a person may be hired to serve as a faculty member if the district governing board determines that the individual "possesses qualifications that are at least equivalent to the minimum qualifications specified in regulations of the board of governors adopted pursuant to Section 87356." The section requires a process to ensure that "each individual faculty member employed under the authority granted by the [equivalency] regulations possesses... minimum qualifications specified in regulations adopted by the board of governors." (Emphasis added.)

Title 5, section 53430 establishes the standards for hiring faculty based on equivalencies, and it echoes the language of Education Code section 87358 that each individual faculty member must possess minimum qualifications. As noted above, the regulations contemplate a relationship between minimum qualifications and disciplines.

Education Code section 87356 verifies that each individual faculty member is expected to possess minimum qualifications under the regulations. The regulations demonstrate that the focus of minimum qualifications for "teaching faculty" is on the qualifications of persons to teach in a discipline, not to teach individual courses.

The concept of expertise within a discipline is reflected elsewhere in the regulations. Title 5 section 53403 allows persons who have been employed "to teach in a discipline" to continue teaching even if the minimum qualifications or disciplines list are amended after the person is initially hired.

It is likely that the concept of single course equivalencies grew out of the provisional credential that was available when a credentialing system was used to establish eligibility for community college district faculty employment. Under that system, a person could secure a "provisional" credential that listed a course that the individual could teach. The credential allowed its holder to teach the specific course, but the circumstances authorizing such services were very narrow. Former title 5, section 52223 provided the particulars, as follows:

"52223. A District shall establish the existence of the following facts:

- a. The district has made every reasonable effort to locate and to employ a person holding a credential other than a provisional credential to teach the particular course to be named on the credential.
- b. No such credentialed person is ready, able, and willing to accept such employment in the district.
- c. The district shall employ the applicant to teach the course to be named on the credential."

Former section 52225 provided an alternative to the conditions of former section 52223. Under section 52225, a provisional credential could be issued if a local board made a finding that there was an inadequate number of credentialed persons available in the state who were qualified to instruct in a particular discipline or skill and the board found the discipline or skill to be an emergency area of instruction.

The services of a person who taught under a provisional credential did not count towards tenure. The initial term of the provisional credential was one calendar year from issuance, and reissuance of the credential could not result in employment to teach the same course in the same district for more than three calendar years. (Former title 5, section 52228.) Thus, even under the predecessor credentialing system, the norm was that districts would hire faculty who were qualified to hold "regular" credentials, and service only in specific courses was allowed in very narrow circumstances.

The current minimum qualifications closely resemble the former credential requirements in many areas. It is telling that no current regulations clearly carry over the standards of the provisional credential. If a person were able to produce a provisional credential that was reissued prior to the expiration of the credentialing system, and that person has not exhausted the maximum three calendar years of instruction authorized by the former regulations, that person may be eligible to serve under the terms of the provisional credential up to the maximum authorized three calendar years of service. (See Ed. Code, § 87355 that authorizes service under an unexpired credential notwithstanding the replacement of the credential system with the minimum qualifications system.) However, we believe that such a circumstance is highly unlikely, and we would need to make a specific assessment of the credential and a fuller review of the former regulations in order to make a definitive determination regarding the continued viability of the provisional credential.

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that a district is not authorized to establish a single course equivalency as a substitute for meeting minimum qualifications in a discipline.

Sincerely,

Original signed by Ralph Black

Ralph Black

General Counsel RB:VAR:sj

cc: Fusako Yokotobi, Human Resources Bobbie Juzek, Human Resources



This publication is printed on recycled paper. Please recycle your copy when done.

Academic Senate for California Community Colleges
One Capitol Mall, Suite 230, Sacramento, CA 95814
916.445.4753 www.asccc.org

©2020 Academic Senate for California Community Colleges

